Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 29, 2014 REVISED: November 28, 2014 ACCEPTED: December 5, 2014 PUBLISHED: December 24, 2014

Aspects of effective theory for multiple M5-branes compactified on circle

Pei-Ming Ho^a and Yutaka Matsuo^b

^bDepartment of Physics, Faculty of Science, University of Tokyo, Hongo 7-3-1, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

E-mail: pmho@phys.ntu.edu.tw, matsuo@phys.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: A supersymmetric non-Abelian self-dual gauge theory with the explicit introduction of Kaluza-Klein modes is proposed to give a classical description of multiple M5branes on $\mathbb{R}^5 \times S^1$. The gauge symmetry is parametrized by Lie-algebra valued 1-forms with the redundancy of a 0-form, and the supersymmetry transformations without gaugefixing are given. We study BPS configurations involving KK modes, including M-waves and M2-branes with non-trivial distributions around the circle. Finally, this supersymmetric gauge theory of two-forms can be equipped with more general non-Abelian gerbes in five dimensions.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetric gauge theory, D-branes, Solitons Monopoles and Instantons, M-Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1409.4060



^aDepartment of Physics and Center for Theoretical Sciences, Center for Advanced Study in Theoretical Sciences, National Center for Theoretical Sciences, National Taiwan University, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, R.O.C.

Contents

1	Introduction		1
2	Nor	Ion-Abelian 2-form gauge theory	
	2.1	The non-Abelian gauge symmetry	3
		2.1.1 Comment on boundary condition	6
	2.2	Lagrangian	7
	2.3	Canonical formulation	9
		2.3.1 Equation of motion	10
		2.3.2 Hamiltonian formulation	10
	2.4	Conserved currents	11
3	Sup	persymmetry	12
4	Solitonic solutions		15
	4.1	M2 along x^4	16
		4.1.1 Zero-mode solution	16
		4.1.2 KK-mode solution	17
		4.1.3 Infinite R limit	20
	4.2	BPS states for pure KK modes	21
		4.2.1 M-waves	21
5	Supersymmetric gerbe		22
	5.1	Gauge transformation	22
	5.2	Action for non-abelian gerbe	23
	5.3	SUSY partners and transformation laws in 5 dimensions	24
6	6 Comments		24
	6.1	On KK modes	24
	6.2	On zero-modes	25
	6.3	Conclusion	26

1 Introduction

In the past few years, there has been growing interest in finding a low energy effective theory for multiple M5-branes in M theory [1]–[43]. One of the many approaches to the problem is to consider M5-branes compactified on a circle of finite radius R. (In the end, you can take the decompactification limit $R \to \infty$ for the uncompactified theory.) Via double dimensional reduction, when $R \to 0$, M5-branes become D4-branes, which are described by the 5-dimensional super Yang-Mills theory. This duality serves as an important constraint on the model for multiple M5-branes.

At the same time, a model of multiple M5-branes should admit the configurations in which all M5-branes are well separated from each other so that they are all decoupled. In this limit, the model should be described by multiple copies of the single M5-brane effective theory, which has a well-known Lagrangian [44–47] with an Abelian gauge symmetry (with or without compactification). This is another important constraint on the multiple M5-brane theory.

In addition, the world-volume theory of M5-branes is expected to have the (2, 0)-superconformal symmetry in 6 dimensions. Although it is possible that only part of the supersymmetry is manifest in a Lagrangian formulation [14, 15, 24, 30], the same field content (more precisely the dynamical degrees of freedom) should agree with that of the (2, 0)-theory.

In our opinion, the most important feature of M5-branes is the gauge symmetry of a 2-form gauge potential. While the Abelian theory for such a gauge symmetry is well understood both in physics and mathematics [48], the non-Abelian counterpart is rather mysterious. In mathematics, there is still no consensus about the precise definition of non-Abelian gerbes [49, 50]. In physics, the construction of a satisfactory theory for non-Abelian 2-form gauge potential is usually obstructed by various no-go theorems [1–3, 19, 51–53].¹ A crucial difference between the ordinary gauge symmetry for 1-form potentials and that for 2-form potentials is that the latter has a redundancy in the gauge transformation laws. How to non-Abelianize the gauge symmetry without losing this "gauge symmetry of gauge symmetry" is the key issue of the problem in order to have the correct number of degrees of freedom. This is perhaps directly connected to the core of the mysteries about M5-branes, which offer an opportunity to guide us to significantly expand our understanding of the notion of gauge symmetry.

In fact, there is already a non-Abelian gauge theory for a 2-form potential. It is the effective theory for a single M5-brane in the background of large C-field [56–58]. The non-Abelian algebra is characterized by the Nambu-Poisson bracket as a result of the C-field background.

In previous works [12, 26, 27], a model was proposed for the gauge field degrees of freedom in a system of multiple M5-branes. Its 6-dimensional base space is compactified on a circle of finite radius R, and it satisfies the following criteria:

- 1. When KK modes are removed on dimensional reduction, it reduces to the Yang-Mills theory, the gauge field sector of multiple D4-branes.
- 2. When the gauge group U(N) is replaced by $U(1)^N$, it reduces to decoupled multiple copies of the 6D self-dual gauge theory.

 $^{^{1}}$ See also [54, 55] as a different class of applications of 2-form gauge theory in physics so that the no-go theorems are not relevant.

3. It has a consistent non-Abelian gauge symmetry algebra² for a self-dual 2-form potential in 6 dimensions, without any excessive physical degrees of freedom (such as an extra 1-form potential).

This proposal [12, 26, 27] stands out as the only existing model that has been shown to satisfy all three criteria above. However, it misses the ingredients of matter fields and supersymmetry. One of the purposes of this paper is to show that an existing proposal [30] of the supersymmetric theory for multiple M5-branes³ can be viewed as the gauge-fixed version of the supersymmetrization of this non-Abelian self-dual gauge theory. It has the right field content, although only part of the (2,0)-supersymmetry is manifest. With SUSY, one may proceed to study various aspects of the system in more detail, such as supersymmetric classical configurations, which are the other focus of the paper.

The plan of the paper is as follows. We review and elaborate on the non-Abelian 2-form gauge theory [12, 26, 27] in section 2. We show that there are infinitely many conserved charges associated with the translation symmetry in the compactified direction. In section 3 we extend the supersymmetry algebra proposed in ref. [30] to a larger algebra that closes on the gauge transformation, so that the former can be viewed as the gauge-fixed version of the latter. In section 4, we construct BPS configurations which involve KK modes, including those describing M2-branes lying along a non-compactified direction with non-trivial distribution in the compactified direction. We take the large R limit of these BPS solutions and evaluate their behavior. We also find BPS states corresponding to M-waves, that is, propagating waves in the compactified direction. In section 5, we point out that supersymmetric gauge theories can be defined for more general set-up of non-Abelian gerbes in 4+1 dimensions [27]. Finally, in section 6, we comment on other approaches to multiple M5-branes and conclude.

2 Non-Abelian 2-form gauge theory

In this section, we review the gauge symmetry and action for the non-Abelian self-dual gauge field proposed in refs. [12, 26, 27]. We will also analyze the theory in more detail, giving expressions for the Hamiltonian, Poisson brackets and conserved charges. An interesting feature of the theory is that there are infinitely many conserved charges, as a result of the property that all KK modes interact only through zero modes.

2.1 The non-Abelian gauge symmetry

The base space of the theory is $\mathbb{R}^5 \times S^1$. The coordinates x^{μ} ($\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4$) are used for \mathbb{R}^5 and x^5 for S^1 . Naturally, the 2-form potential B_{MN} (M, N = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) is decomposed into two sets of components $B_{\mu 5}$ and $B_{\mu \nu}$. It is also natural to decompose all fields into

 $^{^{2}}$ The gauge transformation should be parameterized by a 1-form in the adjoint representation of the gauge group, with a redundancy parametrized by a 0-form.

³The theory of [30] is derived from the framework of supersymmetric theories developed in a series of works [59-65].

zero modes and Kaluza-Klein (KK) modes as⁴

$$\Phi = \Phi^{(0)} + \Phi^{(KK)}.$$
(2.1)

The gauge potential B_{MN} and gauge transformation parameter Λ_M take values in a non-Abelian Lie algebra. It should be u(N) for N M5-branes in flat spacetime. We identify the Wilson loop (zero mode) of the one-form gauge parameter Λ_M as a 0-form gauge parameter λ

$$\lambda \equiv 2\pi R \Lambda_5^{(0)} = \oint dx^5 \Lambda_5, \qquad (2.2)$$

which is independent of x^5 . With respect to this 5D gauge parameter λ , we shall treat the zero mode of $B_{\mu 5}$ as the corresponding 5D 1-form potential A_{μ} .

The non-Abelian gauge transformation law for the 2-form potential is defined by $[12]^5$

$$\delta B_{\mu 5} = [D_{\mu}, \Lambda_5] - \partial_5 \Lambda_{\mu} + \left[B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})}, \lambda \right], \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\delta B_{\mu\nu} = [D_{\mu}, \Lambda_{\nu}] - [D_{\nu}, \Lambda_{\mu}] + [B_{\mu\nu}, \lambda] - \left[F_{\mu\nu}, \partial_{5}^{-1}\Lambda_{5}^{(\rm KK)}\right], \qquad (2.4)$$

where the 5-dimensional covariant derivative and field strength are

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + A_{\mu}, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$F_{\mu\nu} = [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}],$$
 (2.6)

with the gauge potential A_{μ} identified with the zero mode of $B_{\mu 5}$ through the relation

$$A_{\mu} \equiv 2\pi R B_{\mu 5}^{(0)} = \oint dx^5 B_{\mu 5}.$$
 (2.7)

The coefficient $2\pi R$ shows up from the relation between the field theories on M5 and D4 and may be interpreted as the coupling constant g on D4 [12]. The appearance of ∂_5^{-1} in (2.4) is needed for a closed gauge symmetry algebra.

More explicitly, the transformation laws (2.3), (2.4) can be decomposed into zero modes and KK modes as [12]

$$\delta A_{\mu} = [D_{\mu}, \lambda], \tag{2.8}$$

$$\delta B_{\mu 5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \left[D_{\mu}, \Lambda_{5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right] - \partial_{5} \Lambda_{\mu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} + \left[B_{\mu 5}^{(\mathrm{KK})}, \lambda \right], \tag{2.9}$$

$$\delta B_{\mu\nu}^{(0)} = \left[D_{\mu}, \Lambda_{\nu}^{(0)} \right] - \left[D_{\nu}, \Lambda_{\mu}^{(0)} \right] + \left[B_{\mu\nu}^{(0)}, \lambda \right],$$
(2.10)

$$\delta B_{\mu\nu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \left[D_{\mu}, \Lambda_{\nu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right] - \left[D_{\nu}, \Lambda_{\mu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right] + \left[B_{\mu\nu}^{(\mathrm{KK})}, \lambda \right] - \left[F_{\mu\nu}, \partial_{5}^{-1} \Lambda_{5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right].$$
(2.11)

This gauge symmetry algebra is closed. It is [12]

$$[\delta, \delta'] = \delta'' \tag{2.12}$$

 $^{^{4}}$ In fact, a quantity only has to be periodic up to a gauge transformation, so the decomposition of a field into zero modes and KK modes as in (2.1) is not always possible. We will comment on twisted boundary conditions in section 2.1.1.

 $^{{}^{5}}F_{\mu\nu}$ here is different from the $F_{\mu\nu}$ in ref. [12] by an overall factor of $2\pi R$.

with the corresponding gauge parameters related via the following relations:

$$\lambda'' = [\lambda, \lambda'], \tag{2.13}$$

$$\Lambda_5^{\prime\prime(\rm KK)} = \left[\lambda, \Lambda_5^{\prime(\rm KK)}\right] - \left[\lambda^{\prime}, \Lambda_5^{\rm (KK)}\right], \qquad (2.14)$$

$$\Lambda_{\mu}^{\prime\prime} = [\lambda, \Lambda_{\mu}^{\prime}] - [\lambda^{\prime}, \Lambda_{\mu}].$$
(2.15)

As the case of Abelian gauge symmetry for 2-form potentials, there is a redundancy in using Λ_{μ} and Λ_5 to parametrize the non-Abelian gauge transformations defined above. The gauge transformation is unchanged when Λ_{μ} and Λ_5 are changed by

$$\delta\Lambda_{\mu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \left[D_{\mu}, \xi^{(\mathrm{KK})}\right], \qquad \delta\Lambda_{5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \partial_{5}\xi^{(\mathrm{KK})}$$
(2.16)

for an arbitrary function $\xi^{(\text{KK})}$ that has no zero mode. Note that $\Lambda_5^{(0)}$ (equivalently λ) is not transformed because it is the Wilson-loop degree of freedom of the gauge parameters. This topological nature of λ is the qualification of its special role in the gauge transformation laws.

The field strength H_{MNP} is defined by [12]

$$H_{\mu\nu5} = \frac{1}{2\pi R} F_{\mu\nu} + \partial_5 B_{\mu\nu} + \left[D_{\mu}, B_{\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right] - \left[D_{\nu}, B_{\mu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right], \qquad (2.17)$$

$$H_{\mu\nu\kappa}^{(\rm KK)} = \left[D_{\mu}, B_{\nu\kappa}^{(\rm KK)} \right] + \left[D_{\nu}, B_{\kappa\mu}^{(\rm KK)} \right] + \left[D_{\kappa}, B_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm KK)} \right] \\ + \left[F_{\mu\nu}, \partial_5^{-1} B_{\kappa5}^{(\rm KK)} \right] + \left[F_{\nu\kappa}, \partial_5^{-1} B_{\mu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right] + \left[F_{\kappa\mu}, \partial_5^{-1} B_{\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right].$$
(2.18)

In terms of the zero modes and KK modes, eq. (2.17) is equivalent to

$$H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu5} = \frac{1}{2\pi R} F_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$H_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} = \partial_5 B_{\mu\nu} + \left[D_{\mu}, B_{\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right] - \left[D_{\nu}, B_{\mu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right].$$
(2.20)

All the components of the field strength H defined above transform covariantly in the form

$$\delta \Phi = [\Phi, \lambda]. \tag{2.21}$$

Although the definition of the component $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ is missing, luckily, in the self-dual gauge theory, we can completely ignore $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ by focusing on its Hodge dual $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu5}$ [12], which is essentially the ordinary Yang-Mills field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ in 5 dimensions. The self-duality condition for the zero modes is replaced by the Yang-Mills equation [12].

From the definitions of the field strengths, it is straightforward to derive the Bianchi identities [12]:

$$\sum_{(3)} \left[D_{\mu}, H_{\nu\kappa5}^{(0)} \right] = 0, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\sum_{(3)} \left[D_{\mu}, H_{\nu\kappa5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right] = \partial_5 H_{\mu\nu\kappa}^{(\mathrm{KK})}, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\sum_{(4)} \left[D_{\mu}, H_{\nu \kappa \rho}^{(\text{KK})} \right] = \sum_{(4)} \left[F_{\mu \nu}, \partial_5^{-1} H_{\kappa \rho 5}^{(\text{KK})} \right], \qquad (2.24)$$

in which the 2-form potential B_{MN} appears only through the field strength H_{MNP} except the zero-mode $B_{\mu 5}^{(0)}$ (or equivalently the 1-form potential A_{μ}). Here $\sum_{(3)}$ and $\sum_{(4)}$ refer to sums over permutations to totally anti-symmetrize all of the (3 or 4) indices in each expression.

The gauge symmetry defined above has the following properties:

- 1. The gauge symmetry reduces to (multiple copies of) that for the Abelian 2-form gauge potential when the Lie algebra is Abelian.
- 2. The "gauge symmetry of gauge symmetry" is consistently promoted to the non-Abelian case. That is, the gauge transformation law (2.3) and (2.4) parametrized by $\Lambda_{\mu}, \Lambda_{5}$ has the redundancy (2.16).

It will be useful in computations below to define the covariant quantity

$$\hat{B}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_5^{-1} H_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)}. \tag{2.25}$$

While $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu} = B^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu}$ in the gauge $B^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu5} = 0$, the quantity $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$ transforms covariantly before gauge fixing. In terms of $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$, the field strengths can be expressed as

$$H_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} = \partial_5 \hat{B}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.26)$$

$$H_{\mu\nu\kappa}^{(\rm KK)} = [D_{\mu}, \hat{B}_{\nu\kappa}] + [D_{\nu}, \hat{B}_{\kappa\mu}] + [D_{\kappa}, \hat{B}_{\mu\nu}].$$
(2.27)

2.1.1 Comment on boundary condition

Let us recall that, in gauge theories with one-form potentials, Wilson loop arises as a new degree of freedom when a spatial direction is compactified on a circle along x^5 . It can be represented by the zero mode of the gauge potential $A_5^{(0)}$, which behaves as a gauge-covariant scalar. In our two-form gauge theory, the analogue of $A_5^{(0)}$ is $B_{\mu 5}^{(0)}$, which behaves as a one-form potential in 5D.

Furthermore, when there is a compactification of an additional circle along x^4 in the one-form gauge theory, it is possible to turn on a quantized flux on the torus of (x^4, x^5) . It can be described by linear terms in the potential A_4, A_5 . Although linear terms are not periodic functions, they are allowed because the potential only needs to be periodic up to gauge transformations. Similarly, if we add a linear term to a periodic two-form potential B_{MN} as

$$B_{\mu\nu} \to B'_{\mu\nu} = B_{\mu\nu} + \Sigma_{\mu\nu}(x)x^5,$$
 (2.28)

$$B_{\mu5} \to B'_{\mu5} = B_{\mu5},$$
 (2.29)

where $\Sigma_{\mu\nu}$ is independent of x^5 . If $B_{\mu\nu}$ is periodic, $B'_{\mu\nu}$ is no longer of the form (2.1) and satisfies the twisted boundary condition

$$B'_{\mu\nu}(x^5 + 2\pi R) = B'_{\mu\nu}(x^5) + 2\pi R \Sigma_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.30)

It is easy to check that if the tensor $\Sigma_{\mu\nu}$ satisfies the relation

$$\sum_{(3)} [D_{\mu}, \Sigma_{\nu\lambda}] = 0, \qquad (2.31)$$

all components of the new 3-form field strength,

$$H'_{\mu\nu\lambda} = H_{\mu\nu\lambda}, \qquad H'_{\mu\nu5} = H_{\mu\nu5} + \Sigma_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.32)$$

are still periodic as the old 3-form field strength. In particular, all gauge-invariant quantities are periodic. Incidentally, the condition (2.31) is equivalent to the Bianchi identity if $\Sigma_{\mu\nu}$ is proportional to $F_{\mu\nu}$.

By analogy, the gauge transformation parameters Λ_M , λ only need to be periodic up to the transformation (2.16).

Since the operator ∂_5^{-1} is well defined only when (2.1) holds, twisted boundary conditions requires an extension of our formulation on the 2-form potential. We leave the complete theory including twisted boundary conditions for future works.

As a comment related to the issue of boundary conditions, the non-Abelian self-dual gauge theory can be equivalently reformulated by adding a linear piece to $B_{\mu\nu}$ so that

$$B_{\mu\nu} \equiv B^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2\pi R} F_{\mu\nu} x^5 + B^{(\rm KK)}_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.33)

and simplifying (2.17) by dropping the first term

$$H_{\mu\nu5} \equiv \partial_5 B_{\mu\nu} + \left[D_{\mu}, B_{\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right] - \left[D_{\nu}, B_{\mu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right],$$
(2.34)

while keeping all other definitions intact. The linear term in $B_{\mu\nu}$ does not affect the periodicity of the field strength H.

2.2 Lagrangian

The action for Abelian self-dual gauge fields (also called "chiral bosons") [44, 67, 68, 70–73] can be found in various forms in the literature. Having a non-Abelianized gauge symmetry for 2-form potentials, one would like to construct a gauge-invariant action.

To write down a Lagrangian for self-dual gauge fields in a manifestly Lorentz-covariant way, one needs to introduce auxiliary fields. For simplicity, one often considers non-Lorentzcovariant expressions for Lagrangians without auxiliary fields. They can be thought of as the gauge-fixed versions of certain Lorentz-covariant formulations. For our purpose of describing M5-branes compactified on a circle, the compactification partially breaks Lorentz covariance, and it is natural to pick the compactified direction x^5 as a special direction in the Lagrangian formulation, with all Lorentz symmetry in the remaining directions (x^0, x^1, \dots, x^4) intact.

The action considered in ref. [12] for multiple M5-branes compactified on a circle is an extension of the Abelian version [69]

$$S = -\int d^6x \; \tilde{H}^{\mu\nu5}(H_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5}) \tag{2.35}$$

(up to an overall normalization), where

$$\tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5} \equiv -\frac{1}{6} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho} H^{\lambda\sigma\rho}.$$
(2.36)

Decomposing the fields into zero modes and KK modes, we note that this action for an Abelian 2-form potential is equivalent to

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \int d^6 x \, \tilde{H}^{\mu\nu5}_{(\rm KK)} \Big(H^{(\rm KK)}_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}^{(\rm KK)}_{\mu\nu5} \Big)$$
(2.37)

by suitably integrating out $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ and redefining the gauge field A_{μ} via (2.7). The zero mode $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ disappears from this action, but its existence is guaranteed by the Maxwell equation⁶

$$\partial^{\mu}F_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.40}$$

In this case, the Maxwell equation is equivalent to the self-duality condition for the zero modes.

The action for the non-Abelian theory is then taken to be of the same form but with an overall trace [12]

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}[F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}] - \int d^6 x \, \text{Tr}\Big[\tilde{H}^{\mu\nu5}_{(\text{KK})}\Big(H^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5}\Big)\Big], \quad (2.41)$$

where all the fields are Lie-algebra valued. As a generalization of the Abelian theory, the Yang-Mills equation is by definition an equivalent expression of the self-duality condition on the zero modes.

To show that the self-duality condition for KK modes is equivalent to the equation of motion derived from this action, it is crucial to notice that, in addition to the gauge symmetry for the 2-form potential (2.3) and (2.4), this theory has a new gauge symmetry

$$\delta B_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm KK)} = \Phi_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm KK)}, \qquad \delta B_{\mu5} = 0,$$
 (2.42)

where $\Phi_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm KK)}$ satisfies the constraint

$$\epsilon^{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} \Big[D_{\kappa}, \Phi^{(\text{KK})}_{\sigma\rho} \Big] = 0.$$
(2.43)

This gauge symmetry is responsible for establishing the 1-1 correspondence between the equivalence classes of solutions to the equations of motion for the KK modes

$$\epsilon^{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} \Big[D_{\kappa}, \left(H_{\sigma\rho5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} - \tilde{H}_{\sigma\rho5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right) \Big] = 0$$
(2.44)

and the self-dual configurations defined by

$$H_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} = \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)}.$$
 (2.45)

⁶The Maxwell equation implies that there exits a tensor $B^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}$ such that

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} \partial^{\kappa} B^{(0)\sigma\rho}.$$
 (2.38)

One can then define $H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa}$ by

$$H^{(0)}_{\mu\nu\kappa} = \partial_{\mu}B^{(0)}_{\nu\kappa} + \partial_{\nu}B^{(0)}_{\kappa\mu} + \partial_{\kappa}B^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.39)$$

and (2.38) is of the same form as the self-duality condition for the zero modes.

Analogous additional gauge symmetries also appeared in other M5-brane actions in the literature [44–47]. It is a universal feature of the Lagrangian formulation of chiral boson theories.

There are other equivalent formulations of Abelian self-dual gauge fields that one can start with and extend it to the non-Abelian theory. In particular, another choice of the action is

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^6 x \ H^{\mu\nu5}(H_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5}), \qquad (2.46)$$

where $x^5 \in [0, 2\pi R)$, as a small modification of the previous action (2.35). It is different from (2.35) only in the first factor $H^{\mu\nu 5}$ of the Lagrangian. We study this formulation in more detail now.

Like the previous action, this action also enjoys an additional gauge symmetry

$$\delta B_{\mu\nu} = \Phi_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.47)$$

where $\Phi_{\mu\nu}$ is an arbitrary function independent of x^5 . This gauge symmetry implies that the zero mode of $B_{\mu\nu}$ is a pure gauge artifact. The equation of motion for the KK modes derived from this new action is

$$\partial_5 \left(H_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} - \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5}^{(\rm KK)} \right) = 0,$$
 (2.48)

and it is equivalent to the self-duality condition (2.45). The advantage of this choice is that the equivalence between equations of motion and self-duality condition is particularly simple. It is also very easy to check that the action (2.46) reduces directly to

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \int d^6 x \, H^{\mu\nu5}_{(\rm KK)} \Big(H^{(\rm KK)}_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}^{(\rm KK)}_{\mu\nu5} \Big), \tag{2.49}$$

without having to use the gauge symmetry (2.47) or integrating out any field.

The non-Abelian counterpart of (2.49) is

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}[F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}] - \int d^6 x \, \text{Tr}\Big[H^{\mu\nu5}_{(\text{KK})}\Big(H^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5}\Big)\Big].$$
(2.50)

Since the solutions to the equations of motion can be matched with self-dual configurations, this Lagrangian is equivalent to the previous Lagrangian (2.41) at the classical level. It is not clear how they may be related to each other at the quantum level. In general, there are many classically equivalent Lagrangians for a self-dual gauge field [70, 72, 73]. It will be interesting to investigate the quantum theories for these actions.

2.3 Canonical formulation

In this subsection, we provide basics of the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formulations of the theory.

Let us repeat the Lagrangian (2.50) here for convenience of the reader:

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}[F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}] - \int d^6 x \, \text{Tr}\Big[H^{\mu\nu5}_{(\text{KK})}\Big(H^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5} - \tilde{H}^{(\text{KK})}_{\mu\nu5}\Big)\Big].$$
(2.51)

When the gauge-fixing condition

$$B_{\mu 5}^{(\rm KK)} = 0 \tag{2.52}$$

is imposed, this action is identical to the gauge field part of the supersymmetric action proposed in ref. [30].

2.3.1 Equation of motion

Note that $B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})}$ appears in the action only through $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$ (2.25). In terms of A_{μ} and $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$, the action (2.51) is

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\pi R} \int d^5 x \, \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}[F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}] - \int d^6 x \, \text{Tr}\left[\partial_5 \hat{B}^{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_5 \hat{B}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho}[D^\kappa, \hat{B}^{\sigma\rho}]\right)\right]. \tag{2.53}$$

The equation of motion for the KK modes $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$ is

$$\partial_5 \left(\partial_5 \hat{B}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} [D^{\kappa}, \hat{B}^{\sigma\rho}] \right) = 0.$$
 (2.54)

It is equivalent to

$$\partial_5 \hat{B}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} [D^{\kappa}, \hat{B}^{\sigma\rho}] = 0, \qquad (2.55)$$

as ∂_5^{-1} is well defined on KK modes.

The equation of motion for the zero modes A_{μ} is

$$\frac{1}{2\pi R} [D_{\nu}, F^{\mu\nu}] + \frac{1}{2} \oint dx^5 \ \epsilon^{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} [\partial_5 \hat{B}_{\nu\kappa}, \hat{B}_{\sigma\rho}] = 0.$$
(2.56)

This is of the form of the Yang-Mills equation with a source term. It reduces to the pure Yang-Mills equation when KK modes vanish.

2.3.2 Hamiltonian formulation

In the Lagrangian as well as the equations of motion, the KK modes of $B_{\mu\nu}$ and $B_{\mu5}$ are encoded in $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$, and the zero modes are present in terms of A_{μ} . All physical gauge degrees of freedom in the theory reside completely in $\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}$ and A_{μ} .

As there is no time-derivative terms of the temporal components A_0 and \hat{B}_{0i} (i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4) in the Lagrangian (2.51), they are Lagrange multipliers. The corresponding constraints are

$$H_{0i5}^{(\rm KK)} = \tilde{H}_{0i5}^{(\rm KK)} \tag{2.57}$$

for $\hat{B}_{0i}^{(\text{KK})}$ (i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4), and a modified Gauss' law for A_0 . As the canonical formulation of Yang-Mills theory is well known, we will focus our attention on the KK modes.

The BRST anti-field formulation of the theory was already given in [26]. Here we provide a simpler, more elementary Hamiltonian formulation. To describe the Hamiltonian formulation for the KK modes, we first solve the constraints (2.57), which determine uniquely the values of the Lagrange multipliers

$$\hat{B}_{0i} = -\frac{1}{6} \epsilon_{ijkl} \partial_5^{-1} H^{jkl}_{(KK)}$$
(2.58)

in term of the dynamical fields \hat{B}_{ij} . We can thus replace \hat{B}_{0i} everywhere in the Lagrangian by this expression, so that the only dynamical fields of the KK modes are \hat{B}_{ij} .

As there is no more unsolved constraints, we can define the conjugate momentum of \hat{B}_{ij} simply as

$$\hat{\Pi}_{ij} \equiv \frac{\delta S}{\delta \partial_0 \hat{B}^{ij}} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ijkl} H^{kl5}_{(KK)}.$$
(2.59)

Denoting the Fourier modes of a field Φ

$$\Phi = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi^{(n)} e^{-inx^5/R}$$
(2.60)

by $\Phi^{(n)}$ $(n \in \mathbb{Z})$, the Poisson bracket is given by

$$\{\hat{B}_{ij}^{(m)}, \hat{B}_{kl}^{(n)}\} = i\frac{R}{n}\delta_0^{m+n}\epsilon_{ijkl}.$$
(2.61)

Here the superscripts (m), (n) are labels for the KK modes.

The Hamiltonian for the KK modes is

$$\mathcal{H}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \int d^6 x \,\hat{\Pi}_{ij} \partial_0 \hat{B}^{ij} - S.$$
(2.62)

It can be simplified using self-duality conditions as

$$\mathcal{H}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = -\int d^6 x \, \left(H_{0AB}^{(\mathrm{KK})} H_{(\mathrm{KK})}^{0AB} \right) = 2 \int d^6 x \, \left(H_{0ij}^{(\mathrm{KK})} H_{0ij}^{(\mathrm{KK})} + H_{ijk}^{(\mathrm{KK})} H_{ijk}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right), \quad (2.63)$$

where A, B = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. It is positive-definite.

2.4 Conserved currents

Apart from the Hamiltonian, the momentum P_5 is also conserved due to translation symmetry in the x^5 -direction. The contribution of the KK-modes of the gauge field is

$$P_5^{(\rm KK)} = \int d^5 x \, \left(H_{0ij}^{(\rm KK)} H_{(\rm KK)}^{ij5} \right).$$
(2.64)

In fact, due to the property that KK modes only interact through zero modes, there are infinitely many conserved charges. For any positive integer n, the KK modes labelled by n and -n can be simultaneously created or annihilated by a zero mode. The number of excitations of the KK mode with label n minus the number of excitations of the KK mode with label -n is constant. There is thus a conserved current for each integer n > 0.

Formally, both actions (2.41) and (2.50) take the form $B^{(-n)}KB^{(n)}$ (K is an operator independent of fields), so they are invariant under the transformation

$$\delta B^{(n)} = \epsilon_n B^{(n)}, \qquad \delta B^{(-n)} = -\epsilon_n B^{(-n)} \qquad (n > 0).$$
 (2.65)

This is proportional to the transformation induced by a translation in x^5 if all parameters ϵ_n are given by $\epsilon_n = n\epsilon_1$. But the transformation parameters ϵ_n (n > 0) for different Fourier modes are allowed to be independent. The translation symmetry in x^5 induces infinitely many symmetries because of the peculiar interaction feature of the theory.

These infinitely many symmetries lead to an infinite number of conserved currents,

$$j^{\mu}_{(n)} = \pi R \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho\sigma} \operatorname{Tr} \left(H^{(n)}_{\nu\lambda5} B^{(-n)}_{\rho\sigma} - H^{(-n)}_{\nu\lambda5} B^{(n)}_{\rho\sigma} \right) = n\pi i \operatorname{Tr} \left(\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho\sigma} B^{(n)}_{\nu\lambda} B^{(-n)}_{\rho\sigma} \right)$$
(2.66)

for $n = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. The self-duality condition implies that they indeed satisfy the conservation law $\partial_{\mu} j^{\mu}_{(n)} = 0$ in 5D. P_5 is written in terms of them as (by taking $\epsilon_n = -in\epsilon/R$)

$$P_5 = -\sum_{n>0} \int d^5 x \, \frac{in}{R} \, j^0_{(n)} \,. \tag{2.67}$$

3 Supersymmetry

A supersymmetric gauge theory in 5 dimensions for the gauge-fixed fields A_{μ} and $B_{\mu\nu}^{(\text{KK})}$ in the gauge (2.52) were proposed in ref. [30] to describe multiple M5-branes. Like our formulation of the gauge theory for the 2-form potential, the zero modes and KK modes are treated separately in the supersymmetric theory. We will show that the super-algebra in ref. [30] can be viewed as the gauge-fixed version of a super-algebra with the full gauge symmetry. The extension of the supersymmetry to be fully consistent with the gauge symmetry is necessary for the completeness of the M5-brane theory proposed in refs. [12, 26, 27].

From the viewpoint of 5D SUSY, upon the compactification on a circle of radius R, the massless fields on M5-branes is composed of the following SUSY multiplets [30]:

 $(A^{(0)}_{\mu}, \phi^{(0)}, \chi^{(0)}_{a}, Y^{(0)}_{ab}) = a \text{ massless vector multiplet},$ (3.1)

$$(F_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}, \phi^{(n)}, \chi_a^{(n)}, Y_{ab}^{(n)}) = \text{tensor multiplets with mass } m_n, \tag{3.2}$$

$$(h^{(0)ab}, \psi^{(0)b}) = a \text{ massless hypermultiplet},$$
 (3.3)

$$(h^{(n)a\dot{b}}, \psi^{(n)\dot{b}}) =$$
 hypermultiplets with mass m_n . (3.4)

The indices a, b, \dot{a}, \dot{b} (taking values 1, 2) are the labels of the fundamental representations for two SU(2) groups as part of the rotation symmetry of the transverse dimensions of the M5-branes. The 5-dimensional uncompactified spacetime indices are $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4$. The fermions $\chi_a^{(0)}, \psi^{(0)\dot{b}}, \chi_a^{(n)}, \psi^{(0)\dot{b}}$ are 5D spinors representing 6D Weyl spinors.

The mass of a field with KK-mode index n is

$$m_n = \frac{n}{R},\tag{3.5}$$

and the auxiliary bosonic field Y^{ab} has symmetrized indices: $Y^{ab} = Y^{ba}$.

In this theory of multiple M5-branes, all the fields are in the adjoint representation of the gauge group. All the scalars ϕ , $h_{a\dot{b}}$ and fermions $\chi_a, \psi_{\dot{b}}$ are covariant (2.21) under gauge transformations. The field $F^{(n)}_{\mu\nu}$ in ref. [30] should be identified with our gauge field strength through the relation

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{(n)} \equiv RH_{\mu\nu5}^{(n)} = in\hat{B}_{\mu\nu}^{(n)}.$$
(3.6)

In comparison with the notation of ref. [30], other fields are also rescaled in a similar way.⁷

We will use the totally antisymmetrized tensors ϵ^{ab} , $\epsilon^{\dot{a}\dot{b}}$ to raise or lower SU(2) indices, and we will use the NW-SE convention for contraction. For example,

$$\Phi^a = \epsilon^{ab} \Phi_b, \qquad \Phi_a = \Phi^b \epsilon_{ba}. \tag{3.8}$$

There is an additional massless vector multiplet $(A^{(0)}_{\mu}, \phi^{(0)}, \chi^{(0)}_{a}, Y^{(0)}_{ab})$ defined in this model [30]. But it is fixed to be a constant (see eq. (3.12) in ref. [30]), and hence will be ignored. Although only the 5D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY is manifest, but we hope that the rest of the desired symmetry is hidden. In fact, a method is proposed in ref. [30] to upgrade this model to another one with the full 6D $\mathcal{N} = (2, 0)$ superconformal symmetry. We will focus on the simpler model in this work for clarity and simplicity.

The supersymmetry transformation laws (eq. (4.22) in ref. [30]) are given by

$$\delta A_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu} \chi_a^{(0)}, \qquad (3.9)$$

$$\delta\phi^{(n)} = \frac{\imath}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \chi_a^{(n)},\tag{3.10}$$

$$\delta H^{(n)}_{\mu\nu5} = \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{[\mu} D_{\nu]} \chi^{(n)}_a - \frac{i}{2} \Big[\phi^{(n)}, \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi^{(0)}_a \Big] + \frac{i}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} (D_\phi \chi^{(n)}_a), \tag{3.11}$$

$$\delta\chi^{(n)a} = \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\mu\nu}H^{(n)}_{\mu\nu5}\epsilon^a - \frac{i}{2}\not\!\!D \ \phi^{(n)}\epsilon^a - Y^{(n)ab}\epsilon_b - \frac{1}{2}(D_\phi\phi^{(n)})\epsilon^a, \qquad (3.12)$$

$$\delta h^{(n)a\dot{b}} = -i\bar{\epsilon}^a\psi^{(n)\dot{b}},\tag{3.14}$$

$$\delta\psi^{(n)\dot{b}} = \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{D} h^{(n)a\dot{b}}\epsilon_a + \frac{1}{2}(D_{\phi}h^{(n)a\dot{b}})\epsilon_a, \qquad (3.15)$$

where we have used the notation D_{ϕ} defined by

$$(D_{\phi}\Phi^{(n)}) \equiv -im_n \Phi^{(n)} + [\phi^{(0)}, \Phi^{(n)}], \qquad (3.16)$$

and $\Phi_{[\mu\nu]} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\Phi_{\mu\nu} - \Phi_{\nu\mu}), \ \Phi^{(ab)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\Phi^{ab} + \Phi^{ba})$ for symmetrized and anti-symmetrized indices. The covariant derivative is $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + A_{\mu}$.⁸ For any field Φ , its zero mode is denoted as $\Phi^{(0)}$. All the equations above are valid for n = 0 (the zero modes) as well.

Notice that the zero mode of the scalar $\phi^{(0)}$ appears only through the operator D_{ϕ} in the gauge transformation laws. (The same is true for the Lagrangian.) It is tempting to interpret D_{ϕ} as the covariant derivative D_5 in the Fourier basis, and $\phi^{(0)}$ as the (missing) 5th component A_5 of the 1-form gauge potential. It is peculiar that a transverse coordinate $\phi^{(0)}$ of the M5-brane also resembles a component of the 1-form potential upon compactification.

$$\chi_{(n)a}^{[BGH]} = R\chi_{(n)a}, \qquad \phi_{(n)}^{[BGH]} = R\phi_{(n)}, \qquad Y_{(n)ab}^{[BGH]} = RY_{(n)ab}.$$
(3.7)

The variables on the right hand side are those used in this paper.

⁷In view of the 6D theory, it is natural to rescale the fields in ref. [30], which are labelled with the superscript [BGH]:

⁸The convention in ref. [30] is that $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - A_{\mu}$. As a result, $A_{\mu}, F_{\mu\nu}$ here differ from those in ref. [30] by a sign.

Our task here is to find the SUSY transformation law for the component $B_{MN}^{(\text{KK})}$, which is absent in the (gauge-fixed) SUSY transformation laws (3.9)–(3.15). The SUSY transformation of $A_{\mu}^{(0)}$ (3.9) more or less suggests that, before gauge fixing,

$$\delta B^{(n)}_{\mu 5} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_\mu \chi^{(n)}_a. \tag{3.17}$$

In addition, the SUSY transformation law (3.11) for the gauge-covariant field $H^{(n)}_{\mu\nu5}$ suggests that we define the gauge transformation of the rest of the gauge potential components $B^{(n)}_{\mu\nu}$ by

$$\delta B^{(n)}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{i}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi^{(n)}_a - \frac{R}{2n} \Big[\phi^{(n)}, \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi^{(0)}_a \Big] + \frac{R}{2n} \Big[\phi^{(0)}, \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi^{(n)}_a \Big] - \frac{iR}{n} \Big[B^{(n)}_{[\mu 5}, \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\nu]} \chi^{(0)}_a \Big].$$
(3.18)

To summarize, the SUSY transformation laws for the zero modes are the same as that for the 5D super Yang-Mills theory, and the SUSY transformation laws for the KK modes are given by

$$\delta B_{\mu 5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^{a} \gamma_{\mu} \chi_{a}^{(\mathrm{KK})},
\delta B_{\mu\nu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = -\frac{i}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^{a} \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi_{a}^{(\mathrm{KK})} - \frac{i}{2} \Big[\partial_{5}^{-1} \phi^{(\mathrm{KK})}, \bar{\epsilon}^{a} \gamma_{\mu\nu} \chi_{a}^{(0)} \Big]
+ \frac{i}{2} \Big[\phi^{(0)}, \bar{\epsilon}^{a} \gamma_{\mu\nu} \partial_{5}^{-1} \chi_{a}^{(\mathrm{KK})} \Big] + \Big[\partial_{5}^{-1} B_{[\mu 5}^{(\mathrm{KK})}, \bar{\epsilon}^{a} \gamma_{\nu]} \chi_{a}^{(0)} \Big],$$
(3.19)

together with (3.10) and (3.12)-(3.15).

Let us check whether the super-algebra for the SUSY transformations defined above is closed up to gauge transformations. It is straightforward to check that SUSY transformations on $B_{\mu 5}^{(n)}$ satisfy the closure relation

$$[\delta_1, \delta_2] B^{(n)}_{\mu 5} = \alpha^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} B^{(n)}_{\mu 5} + \beta \frac{in}{R} B^{(n)}_{\mu 5} + [D_{\mu}, \Lambda^{(n)}_5] + [B^{(n)}_{\mu 5}, \lambda] - \frac{in}{R} \Lambda^{(n)}_{\mu}, \qquad (3.20)$$

or equivalently,

$$[\delta_1, \delta_2] B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})} = \alpha^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})} + \beta \partial_5 B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})} + \left[D_{\mu}, \Lambda_5^{(\text{KK})} \right] - \partial_5 \Lambda_{\mu}^{(\text{KK})} + \left[B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})}, \lambda \right], \quad (3.21)$$

where the coefficients are given by

$$\alpha^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}_2^a \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon_{1a}, \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\beta = \frac{i}{2} \bar{\epsilon}_2^a \epsilon_{1a}, \tag{3.23}$$

$$\Lambda_5^{(\rm KK)} = -\alpha^{\mu} B_{\mu 5}^{(\rm KK)} + \frac{\beta}{R} \phi^{(\rm KK)}, \qquad (3.24)$$

$$\Lambda_{\mu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} = \alpha^{\nu} B_{\mu\nu}^{(\mathrm{KK})} + \beta B_{\mu5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} + \frac{\alpha_{\mu}}{R} \phi^{(\mathrm{KK})} + \left[\partial_{5}^{-1} \left(\beta B_{\mu5}^{(\mathrm{KK})} + \frac{\alpha_{\mu}}{R} \phi^{(\mathrm{KK})} \right), \phi^{(0)} \right], \quad (3.25)$$

$$\lambda = -R\alpha^{\mu}B^{(0)}_{\mu 5} + \beta\phi^{(0)}.$$
(3.26)

On the right hand side of (3.21), the first term is a translation in the x^{μ} direction, the second term is a translation in the x^5 direction, the third and fourth terms are gauge transformations by $\Lambda_i^{(KK)}$, $\Lambda_5^{(KK)}$ and the last term is a gauge transformation by λ (the 5D gauge transformation parameter). The gauge transformation pieces in the super-algebra agree nicely with the gauge transformation of $B_{\mu 5}^{(KK)}$ (2.9).

It can be checked that the same super-algebra observed for $B_{\mu 5}^{(\text{KK})}$ in (3.21), that is,

$$[\delta_1, \delta_2] = \alpha^i p_i + \beta p_5 + \delta_\Lambda + \delta_\lambda \tag{3.27}$$

applies to all other fields, with the parameters α^i , β , Λ and λ defined by (3.22)–(3.26). Here (δ_1, δ_2) are the SUSY transformations with parameters (ϵ_1, ϵ_2) , δ_{Λ} is the gauge transformation for the KK modes of the 2-form potential, δ_{λ} is the 5D SYM gauge transformation, and p_i , p_5 are generators of translations, which are for our case just derivatives ∂_i , ∂_5 .

4 Solitonic solutions

All BPS states invariant under translation along x^5 survives dimensional reduction and can be represented by configurations in the 5D SYM theory. They are all automatically included in the theory studied here, including those discussed in refs. [7] and [17]. In the following, we will look for BPS solutions involving KK modes.

According to the SUSY transformation laws (3.9)-(3.15), a BPS configuration for the KK modes should allow nontrivial solutions of the SUSY parameter ϵ to the following equations

$$0 = \frac{i}{2} \not\!\!\!D h^{a\dot{b}}_{(\mathrm{KK})} \epsilon_a + \frac{1}{2} D_{\phi} h^{a\dot{b}}_{(\mathrm{KK})} \epsilon_a, \qquad (4.2)$$

assuming that all fermionic fields vanish. Here the derivative D_{ϕ} (3.16) and its complex conjugate are defined by

$$(D_{\phi}\Phi^{(n)}) \equiv -im_n\Phi^{(n)} + [\phi^{(0)}, \Phi^{(n)}], \qquad (4.3)$$

$$(\bar{D}_{\phi}\Phi^{(n)}) \equiv +im_n\Phi^{(n)} + [\phi^{(0)}, \Phi^{(n)}].$$
(4.4)

In various circumstances,⁹ the BPS conditions are not sufficient to guarantee the satisfaction of all equations of motion. Hence we list here for reference the equations of motion for the KK modes derived from the supersymmetric action of ref. [30]:

$$\frac{n}{R}H_{(n)}^{\mu\nu5} - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}D_{\lambda}H_{(n)\sigma\rho5} - i([\phi_{(0)}, H_{(n)}^{\mu\nu5}] - [\phi_{(n)}, F^{\mu\nu}]) = 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$D_{\mu}D^{\mu}\phi_{(n)} - \frac{n^{2}}{R^{2}}\phi_{(n)} + \frac{iR}{2n}[F^{\mu\nu}, H_{(n)\mu\nu5}] - \frac{iR}{n}[D^{\mu}\phi_{(0)}, D_{\mu}\phi_{(n)}] - \frac{iR}{n}[\phi_{(0)}, D^{\mu}D_{\mu}\phi_{(n)}] - \frac{2iR}{n}[Y_{(0)}^{ab}, Y_{(n)ab}] - \frac{in}{R}[\phi_{(0)}, \phi_{(n)}] - [\phi_{(0)}, [\phi_{(0)}, \phi_{(n)}]] - \frac{iR}{n}[\phi_{(0)}, [\phi_{(0)}, \phi_{(n)}]] = 0, \qquad (4.6)$$

⁹For example, see [74].

$$Y_{(n)ab} - \frac{iR}{n} ([\phi_{(0)}, Y_{(n)ab}] - [\phi_{(n)}, Y_{(0)ab}]) = 0,$$
(4.7)

$$D^{\mu}D_{\mu}h_{(n)a\dot{b}} - \frac{n^{2}}{R^{2}}h_{(n)a\dot{b}} - [h^{b}_{(n)\dot{b}}, Y_{(0)ab}] - \frac{2in}{R}[\phi_{(0)}, h_{(n)a\dot{b}}] + [\phi_{(0)}, [\phi_{(0)}, h_{(n)a\dot{b}}]] = 0.$$

$$(4.8)$$

In the above we have set all fermions to zero.

In terms of D_{ϕ} (3.16) and \bar{D}_{ϕ} (4.4), they are simplified as

$$\bar{D}_{\phi}H^{\mu\nu5}_{(n)} - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}D_{\lambda}H_{(n)\sigma\rho5} + i[\phi_{(n)}, F^{\mu\nu}] = 0, \qquad (4.9)$$

$$\bar{D}_{\phi}(D^{\mu}D_{\mu}\phi_{(n)} + D_{\phi}D_{\phi}\phi_{(n)}) + \frac{iR}{2n}[F^{\mu\nu}, H_{(n)\mu\nu5}] - \frac{iR}{n}[D^{\mu}\phi_{(0)}, D_{\mu}\phi_{(n)}] - \frac{2iR}{n}[Y^{ab}_{(0)}, Y_{(n)ab}] = 0, \qquad (4.10)$$

$$\bar{D}_{\phi}Y_{(n)ab} - [\phi_{(n)}, Y_{(0)ab}] = 0, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$(D^{\mu}D_{\mu} + D_{\phi}D_{\phi})h_{(n)a\dot{b}} - [h^{b}_{(n)\dot{b}}, Y_{(0)ab}] = 0.$$
(4.12)

4.1 M2 along x^4

An M2-brane stretched between two M5-branes separated by a finite distance in a transverse direction intersects with either M5-brane on a one-dimensional space, and it is described as a self-dual string from the viewpoint of the M5-brane worldvolume theory. The description for these states is known for the zero modes (in SYM theory) [7], however this description may not be complete. If the self-dual string lies along the x^5 -direction, it can certainly be described by zero modes. But if it lies along other directions, say x^4 , the zero modes can only describe the state when the self-dual string is smeared over the circle along x^5 . We will consider the extension of these zero-mode BPS solutions by turning on KK modes, in order to describe a self-dual string that is localized in the x^5 -direction. Our strategy is to first find zero-mode BPS solutions, and then consider small fluctuations of the KK modes with the zero-mode solution as a background, ignoring back-reactions.

4.1.1 Zero-mode solution

If an M2-brane is not wrapped around x^5 , but lies along x^4 , it is described by a static string-like configuration [7]

$$F_{i'j'} = \epsilon_{i'j'k'} D^{k'} \Phi, \qquad A_0 = 0, \qquad A_4 = \sin\theta \Phi, \qquad X^6 = \cos\theta \Phi, \tag{4.13}$$

where i', j', k' = 1, 2, 3 and Φ satisfies $D^2 \Phi = 0$. To regulate the total energy and momentum, we compactify x^4 on a circle of radius R_4 . Let $r \equiv \sqrt{\sum_{i'=1}^3 x_{i'}^2}$. At large r, the solution of Φ is approximately

$$\Phi = \phi_0 \sigma^3 - \frac{q\sigma^3}{4\pi r} + \cdots, \qquad (4.14)$$

where ϕ_0 is an arbitrary constant and $q \in \mathbb{Z}$. For

$$\cos\theta = \frac{v/2}{\sqrt{v^2/4 + 4\pi^4 n^2/q^2}}, \quad \sin\theta = \frac{2\pi^2 n/q}{\sqrt{v^2/4 + 4\pi^4 n^2/q^2}}, \quad \phi_0 = \sqrt{v^2/4 + 4\pi^4 n^2/q^2},$$
(4.15)

the momentum and magnetic charge are

$$P_5 = -2\pi R_4 \frac{4\pi^2 n}{g_{YM}^2}, \qquad Q_{M4} = \frac{vq}{g_{YM}^2}, \qquad (4.16)$$

where the YM coupling is related to the radius of the circle of x^5 by

$$\frac{4\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} = \frac{1}{R}.$$
(4.17)

The energy is

$$E = 2\pi R_4 \sqrt{Q_{M4}^2 + (P_5/2\pi R_4)^2}.$$
(4.18)

This solitonic solution preserves half of the SUSY in the 5D SYM theory.

In ref. [7], it is claimed that the zero-mode solution above represents all the BPS configurations for a self-dual string winding around the circle of x^4 . This has to be the case if the 5D SYM theory is indeed the complete description of multiple M5-branes. In our approach, while there are independent KK-mode degrees of freedom, one may wonder if it is possible to find BPS states in which KK modes are excited on top of this zero-mode configuration so that the self-dual string is not uniformly smeared over x^5 .

4.1.2 KK-mode solution

Despite the lack of a complete theory with Lagrangian and SUSY transformation rules, field equations for the 2-form gauge potential and BPS conditions were proposed in ref. [29] for M2-branes ending on multiple M5-branes. A solution exists [29] to represent an open M2-brane stretched between two M5-branes, lying along the x^4 -direction, with an x^5 dependent distribution. (It can be extended to more general solutions for more than two M5-branes [35].) The similarity and differences between the theory of ref. [29] with our theory of multiple M5-branes will be discussed later in section 6.2, but coincidentally the solution found in ref. [29] can be adopted for our calculation. (We will see later that the equations considered in ref. [29] are only a subset of all the equations one needs to check in the model studied here.)

For simplicity, we consider the special case of $\theta = 0$ in (4.13) for the zero modes

$$F_{i'j'} = -i\epsilon_{i'j'k'} D^{k'} \phi^{(0)}, \qquad A_0 = A_4 = 0, \tag{4.19}$$

where i', j', k' = 1, 2, 3. This implies that $F_{0i'} = F_{04} = F_{i'4} = 0$. For the purpose of including KK modes in a way that will be convenient for our discussions below, let us re-calculate the zero-mode solution by starting with the ansatz for the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole:

$$A_{i'} = \epsilon_{i'j'k'} f(r) x^{j'} \sigma_{k'}, \qquad (4.20)$$

$$\phi^{(0)} = h(r)x \cdot \sigma, \tag{4.21}$$

where $x \cdot \sigma \equiv x^{i'} \sigma_{i'}$,

$$r \equiv \sqrt{x^{i'} x^{i'}} \tag{4.22}$$

and $\sigma_{i'}$ represents generators of the su(2) Lie algebra with the commutation relations

$$\sigma_{i'}, \sigma_{j'}] = \epsilon_{i'j'k'}\sigma_{k'}. \tag{4.23}$$

(Repeated indices are summed over even when they are both subscripts or both superscripts.)

Eq. (4.19) then implies that

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{df}{dr} + f^2 = \frac{1}{r}\frac{dh}{dr} + fh,$$
(4.24)

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{df}{dr} + \frac{2}{r^2}f = fh - \frac{1}{r^2}h.$$
(4.25)

(These two equations can be combined to give a single (non-linear) second order differential equation for h(r).) An explicit solution to these equations was given in ref. [29]:

$$f(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{c}{r\sinh(cr)},$$
(4.26)

$$h(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{c}{r} \coth(cr)$$
(4.27)

with a constant parameter c. The solution above is singular at r = 0, the location of the M2-brane. The fact that it has to be singular somewhere is expected from the equation

$$D_{i'}D^{i'}\phi^{(0)} = 0, (4.28)$$

which can be derived by taking covariant derivative on the first equation of (4.19), since the second order differential operator D^2 is negative definite.

To compare this solution with the expression (4.14) in the previous subsection, one can carry out a gauge transformation

$$\phi \to U\phi U^{-1}, \qquad F_{i'j'} \to UF_{i'j'}U^{-1}$$

$$(4.29)$$

by the SU(2) matrix

$$U \equiv \exp\left[-\frac{(x^{1}\sigma_{2} - x^{2}\sigma_{1})}{\sqrt{(x^{1})^{2} + (x^{2})^{2}}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\sqrt{(x^{1})^{2} + (x^{2})^{2}}}{x^{3}}\right)\right],$$
(4.30)

which is also singular at the origin to bring it to the form in which $\phi \to (c - \frac{1}{r})\sigma_3$ at large r.

In fact, we will not need the explicit solution for the discussion below. All we need is that the zero-mode solution can be put in the form (4.20) and (4.21).

For the KK modes, as above, we focus on solutions with $h_{ab}^{(n)} = 0$. First, we assume that all interaction terms vanish in the equations of motion (to be verified later) by demanding

$$[\phi_{(0)}, H^{\mu\nu5}_{(n)}] - [\phi_{(n)}, F^{\mu\nu}] = 0, \qquad (4.31)$$

$$[F^{\mu\nu}, H_{(n)\mu\nu5}] - 2[D^{\mu}\phi_{(0)}, D_{\mu}\phi_{(n)}] = 0, \qquad (4.32)$$

$$[\phi_{(0)}, \phi_{(n)}] = 0, \tag{4.33}$$

$$Y_{(n)ab} = 0,$$
 (4.34)

so that the equations of motion are linearized

$$\frac{n}{R}H^{\mu\nu5}_{(n)} - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}D_{\lambda}H_{(n)\sigma\rho5} = 0, \qquad (4.35)$$

$$D_{\mu}D^{\mu}\phi_{(n)} - \frac{n^2}{R^2}\phi_{(n)} = 0.$$
(4.36)

We also extend the BPS conditions (4.19) for the zero-mode solution to the KK modes by

$$H_{i'j'5}^{(n)} = -i\epsilon_{i'j'k'}D^{k'}\phi^{(n)}, \qquad \hat{B}_{0i'}^{(n)} = \hat{B}_{i'4}^{(n)} = 0.$$
(4.37)

According to the BPS conditions for the KK modes (4.1), (4.2), this ansatz (4.37) preserves 1/4 of the SUSY for SUSY parameters ϵ^a satisfying the conditions

$$\gamma_5 \epsilon^a = -\epsilon^a, \qquad \gamma_{04} \epsilon^a = \epsilon^a. \tag{4.38}$$

(Recall that the solutions for M2-branes wrapped around x^5 are also 1/4-BPS states.)

Eq. (4.37) implies that $H_{0i'j}^{(n)} = H_{i'45}^{(n)} = 0$. $(H_{045}^{(n)} \text{ will not be zero.})$ The self-duality condition then implies that $H_{0i'j'}^{(n)} = H_{i'j'4}^{(n)} = 0$.

The equations of motion (4.35) and (4.36) would be valid if

$$\hat{B}_{04}^{(n)} = \phi^{(n)}, \tag{4.39}$$

$$D_{i'}D^{i'}\phi^{(n)} = \frac{n^2}{R^2}\phi^{(n)}.$$
(4.40)

What we need to do now is to find explicit solutions for (4.40). Then we can determine the values of $\hat{B}_{i'j'}^{(n)}$ and $\hat{B}_{04}^{(n)}$ using (4.37) and (4.39).

Following (4.20) and (4.21), we take the ansatz

$$\phi^{(n)} = h^{(n)}(r)x \cdot \sigma \tag{4.41}$$

to find solutions to the equation (4.40), which implies that $h^{(n)}$ satisfies the equation

$$\frac{d^2h^{(n)}}{dr^2} + \frac{4}{r}\frac{dh^{(n)}}{dr} + 4fh^{(n)} - 2r^2f^2h^{(n)} = \frac{n^2}{R^2}h^{(n)}.$$
(4.42)

An explicit solution to this equation was found in ref. [29]:

$$h^{(n)}(r) = c_n \frac{e^{-|n|r/R}}{r^2} \left(1 + \frac{cR}{|n|} \coth(cr) \right)$$
(4.43)

for arbitrary parameters c_n . Since all KK modes are decoupled from all other KK modes, we have infinitely many parameters c_n to parametrize the amplitude of each KK mode independently.

It can now be checked that the assumptions (4.31)–(4.34) are valid. As only the ansatz (4.20), (4.21) and (4.41) are needed for this check, all solutions of f(r), h(r), $h^{(n)}(r)$ to the differential equations (4.24), (4.25) and (4.42) give legitimate BPS states in the multiple M5-brane theory.

Note that the zero-mode solution in SYM theory discussed in the previous subsection also represents an M2-brane along x^4 , but it is smeared over the circle of x^5 . Here we have found the solutions with an arbitrary distribution along x^5 , including those localized around a point in the x^5 -direction. This allows us to consider the localization of the M2-brane in all transverse directions.

4.1.3 Infinite *R* limit

We take the BPS solution above for M2-branes in the x^4 -direction as an example to demonstrate how the theory of multiple M5-branes for finite radius R can also be used to obtain information about infinite R, the uncompactified space.

In the limit of small R, the zero mode $\phi^{(0)}$ dominates over the KK modes. For a localized source in three large transverse dimensions (x^1, x^2, x^3) , the massless field $\phi^{(0)}$ should scale as 1/r with $r = \sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 + (x^3)^2}$ at small r, when the kinetic term dominates over the potential term in its field equation. This is indeed the case in the solution of $\phi^{(0)}$ above in (4.21) and (4.27). (Note that the factor $(x \cdot \sigma)/r$ can be gauge-transformed to σ_3 via U (4.30).) Similarly, the KK modes $\phi^{(n)}$ behave as massive fields in three large transverse dimensions and scales like $e^{-|n|r/R}/r$ in the UV limit. This can be verified by examining the solution of $\phi^{(n)}$ in (4.41) and (4.43).

On the other hand, for a large radius R of the compactified circle, ϕ should behave as a massless field in four large transverse dimensions (x^1, x^2, x^3, x^5) . Hence one expects that, in the UV limit when the field equation is dominated by the kinetic term, ϕ scales like $1/\rho^2$ ($\rho = \sqrt{r^2 + (x^5)^2}$) as a result of rotation symmetry in (x^1, x^2, x^3, x^5) . Note that, since the 5D Lorentz symmetry in $(x^0, x^1, x^2, x^3, x^4)$ is manifest in the theory, this rotation symmetry implies the full 6D Lorentz symmetry.

In the limit of large R, it is more convenient to replace the index n for KK modes by the wave number

$$k \equiv \frac{n}{R}.\tag{4.44}$$

In this limit, the sum over KK modes \sum_{n} is approximated by an integral over k:

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} F(n) \simeq R \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk F(Rk)$$
(4.45)

for any function F(n). For a delta-function source at $x^5 = 0$, we superpose all KK modes with equal amplitude since $\int dk \ e^{-ikx^5} = 2\pi\delta(x^5)$. That is, we choose $c_n = \alpha$ to be independent of n in the solution for each KK mode (4.43), and sum over n to find

$$\begin{split} \phi &= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi^{(n)} e^{-inx^5/R} \\ &\simeq \alpha R \int dk \; \frac{1}{r} e^{-|k|r - ikx^5} \left(1 + \frac{c}{|k|} \coth(cr) \right) \frac{x \cdot \sigma}{r} \\ &= \frac{2\alpha R}{\rho^2} \frac{x \cdot \sigma}{r} - \frac{2\alpha Rc}{r} \coth(cr) \log(\rho/\Lambda) \frac{x \cdot \sigma}{r}, \end{split}$$
(4.46)

where Λ is an IR cut-off parameter, and the factor $\frac{x \cdot \sigma}{r}$ can be transformed to σ^3 by a gauge transformation through the matrix (4.30). We should take $\alpha \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$ such that the solution ϕ is finite in the limit of large R.

In the UV limit, ϕ is dominated by the first term which indeed demonstrates the $1/\rho^2$ behavior implied by the 6D Lorentz symmetry. The second term in the expression of ϕ depends on the parameter c which characterizes the profile of the soliton solution in the (x^1, x^2, x^3) -directions. Since we have taken a Dirac δ -function profile for the solution in

the x^5 -direction, we do not expect this term to be invariant under the 4D rotations in (x^1, x^2, x^3, x^5) . For a nontrivial evidence of the 6D Lorentz symmetry, one should find a solution (with a nontrivial x^5 -profile) invariant under the 4D rotation at finite r in the large R limit.

4.2 BPS states for pure KK modes

Since all KK modes interact only with zero modes, they are all decoupled if we set all zero modes to zero. The system becomes equivalent to an infinite set of free fields.

Setting the zero modes to zeros, the equations of motion (4.5)-(4.8) are simplified to

$$i *_5 dF_{(n)} - m_n F_{(n)} = 0, (4.47)$$

$$(\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + m_n^2)\phi_{(n)} = 0, \qquad (4.48)$$

$$(\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + m_n^2)h_{(n)a\dot{b}} = 0, \qquad (4.49)$$

$$Y_{(n)ab} = 0,$$
 (4.50)

where $F_{(n)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}RH_{(n)\mu\nu5}dx^{\mu} \wedge dx^{\nu}$ is a two-form in 5D, and $*_5$ denotes the Hodge dual in 5D.

Even though all the KK modes are decoupled in the equations of motion, they are related by the BPS conditions for a BPS state. The BPS conditions (4.1) and (4.2) are simplified as

$$-\frac{1}{4}H_{(n)\mu\nu5}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\epsilon_a - \frac{i}{2}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi_{(n)}\epsilon_a - Y^{ab}_{(n)}\epsilon_b + \frac{im_n}{2}\phi_{(n)}\epsilon_a = 0, \qquad (4.51)$$

$$\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}h^{a\dot{b}}_{(\mathrm{KK})}\epsilon_{a} - \frac{n}{R}h^{a\dot{b}}_{(\mathrm{KK})}\epsilon_{a} = 0.$$
(4.52)

In general it relates the KK modes $H_{(n)\mu\nu5}, \phi_{(n)}$ and $Y_{(n)ab}$ to one another.

4.2.1 M-waves

There are KK modes representing uniform sinusoidal waves propagating along the x^5 direction are BPS states. These M-waves solutions that we will present below were first obtained [37] for a different proposal of the M5-brane theory [22]. But here these solutions are to be checked against the field equations and BPS conditions of a complete theory with a supersymmetric Lagrangian and gauge symmetry.

Consider the ansatz of self-dual configurations

$$H_{(n)}^{ij5} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{ijkl} H_{(n)kl5}.$$
(4.53)

All equations of motion are satisfied by

$$H_{(n)ij5} = c_{(n)ij}e^{inx^0/R}, \qquad \phi_{(n)} = \text{const} \times e^{inx^0/R}, \qquad h_{(n)ab} = \text{const} \times e^{inx^0/R}, \quad (4.54)$$

where $c_{(n)ij}$ is a self-dual constant matrix

$$c_{(n)ij} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ijkl} \, c_{(n)kl}, \tag{4.55}$$

and the equation of motion (4.47) implies that $H_{(n)0i5} = 0$. There are no relations among the amplitudes as all KK modes are decoupled.

These independent waves of gauge fields and scalars are 1/4-BPS states symmetric for SUSY parameters ϵ^a satisfying

$$\gamma_{1234}\epsilon^a = \epsilon^a, \qquad \gamma^0 \epsilon^a = -i\epsilon^a. \tag{4.56}$$

Obviously these solutions also survive in the large R limit by replacing the KK mode index n by k (4.44).

5 Supersymmetric gerbe

The discussion in the previous sections can be straightforwardly generalized to the set-up in ref. [27] where a formulation of non-Abelian gerbes was proposed. Let G be an arbitrary Lie group and ρ be an arbitrary (not necessarily irreducible) representation. We write g to represent the Lie algebra of G and ρ to be the representation of g. Let V be the representation space where ρ acts. V can be regarded as an Abelian group by the action of addition. For the example of N M5-branes, G = U(N) and V is the space of KK modes in the adjoint representation.

In this set-up, we define the one-form (A, \tilde{A}) to take values in the semi direct product $\mathbf{g} \ltimes V$ $(A \in \mathbf{g}, \tilde{A} \in V)$ and the two-form $B \in V$. The pair $\mathbf{g} \ltimes V$ and V is an example of crossed module, which is the standard ingredient to define a non-Ablian gerbe. In ref. [27], we argued that a system with the structure of non-Abelian gerbe is often limited to free or topological theory. Indeed, such topological theory was used to classify the phases of non-Abelian gauge theory in four dimensions [54, 55]. Our example seems to be the only exception where some modification of the gauge transformation enables us to define an interacting field theory.

We also need to include a mass matrix M which is a linear map acting on V and commute with the action of $\underline{\rho}$. Suppose V is decomposed into the invariant subspaces $V = \bigoplus_i V_i$, so that $M = \bigoplus_i m_i I_i$, where I_i is an identity matrix acting on V_i . Our discussion so far corresponds to a specific choice $V = \bigoplus_{n=1}^{\infty} (V_n \oplus V_{-n})$, $m_n = n/R$ and $V_{\pm n}$ is the adjoint representation of \mathbf{g} .

5.1 Gauge transformation

We introduce the zero-form gauge parameters $\Lambda \in \mathbf{g}$ and $\tilde{\Lambda} \in V$ and the one-form gauge parameter $\tilde{a} \in V$. The gauge transformation proposed in ref. [27] is,

$$\delta A_i = \partial_i \Lambda + [A_i, \Lambda], \tag{5.1}$$

$$\delta \tilde{A}_i = \partial_i \tilde{\Lambda} + \underline{\rho}(A_i)(\tilde{\Lambda}) - \underline{\rho}(\Lambda)(\tilde{A}_i) + M\tilde{a}_i,$$
(5.2)

$$\delta \tilde{B}_{ij} = \partial_i \tilde{a}_j - \partial_j \tilde{a}_i + \underline{\rho}(A_i)(\tilde{a}_j) - \underline{\rho}(A_j)(\tilde{a}_i) - \underline{\rho}(\Lambda)(\tilde{B}_{ij}) + M^{-1}\underline{\rho}(F_{ij})(\tilde{\Lambda}).$$
(5.3)

The last term in (5.3) is a modification necessary to have homogeneous gauge transformation of field strength,

$$F_{ij} = \partial_i A_j - \partial_j A_i + [A_i, A_j], \tag{5.4}$$

$$\tilde{F}_{ij} = \partial_i \tilde{A}_j - \partial_j \tilde{A}_i + \underline{\rho}(A_i)(\tilde{A}_j) - \underline{\rho}(A_j)(\tilde{A}_i) - M\tilde{B}_{ij}, \qquad (5.5)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{ijk} = \sum_{(3)} \left(\partial_i \tilde{B}_{jk} + \underline{\rho}(A_i) \tilde{B}_{jk} - M^{-1} \underline{\rho}(F_{ij}) (\tilde{A}_k) \right),$$
(5.6)

such that $\mathbf{F}_{ij} = (F_{ij}, \tilde{F}_{ij}) \in \mathbf{g} \ltimes V.$

Transformation of curvature becomes

$$\delta F_{ij} = [F_{ij}, \Lambda], \qquad (5.7)$$

$$\delta \tilde{F}_{ij} = -\underline{\rho}(\Lambda)(\tilde{F}_{ij}), \qquad (5.8)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{ijk} = -\rho(\Lambda)(\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{ijk}).$$
(5.9)

In order to see the correspondence with the previous sections, one may consider taking one of V_n in $V = \bigoplus_{n=1}^{\infty} (V_n \oplus V_{-n})$ and translate the notation in the previous sections by the following rules:¹⁰

$$B^{(0)}_{\mu5} \to A_{\mu}, \qquad B^{(KK)}_{\mu5} \to \tilde{A}_{\mu}, \qquad B^{(KK)}_{\mu\nu} \to i\tilde{B}_{\mu\nu} \qquad (5.10)$$

$$\Lambda_5^{(0)} \to \Lambda, \qquad \qquad \Lambda_5^{(KK)} \to \tilde{\Lambda}, \qquad \qquad \Lambda_{\mu}^{(KK)} \to i\tilde{a}_{\mu}, \qquad (5.11)$$

$$H^{(KK)}_{\mu\nu5} \to \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \qquad H^{(KK)}_{\mu\nu\kappa} \to i\tilde{Z}_{\mu\nu\kappa}, \qquad (5.12)$$

with $\partial_5 \to iM$ $(M = m_n)$. We use different indices i, j instead of μ, ν since parts of this section can be applicable to other dimensions.

5.2 Action for non-abelian gerbe

The homogeneity of the gauge transformations enables us to write the gauge invariant action,

$$L = -\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(F_{ij})^2 - \frac{1}{4} \langle \tilde{F}_{ij}, \tilde{F}^{ij} \rangle - \frac{1}{12} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{ijk}, \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{ijk} \rangle.$$
(5.13)

Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is an inner product in V which is invariant under the action of G.

For our interest in self-dual gauge theories, a covariant action which leads to the selfdual equation is

$$S = \int d^5 x \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} (\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu} - i(*\tilde{\mathcal{Z}})_{\mu\nu}).$$
 (5.14)

The gauge field part of our action for the multiple M5-branes is a special case of this expression. The equation of motion derived from (5.14) is

$$\tilde{F} - i * \tilde{\mathcal{Z}} = 0. \tag{5.15}$$

¹⁰Note that A_{μ} and $F_{\mu\nu}$ in this section are different from A_{μ} and $F_{\mu\nu}$ in other sections of this paper by a factor of $2\pi R$.

5.3 SUSY partners and transformation laws in 5 dimensions

SUSY relates A_i with χ_a, ϕ and \tilde{B}, \tilde{A} with $\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\phi}$, so $\chi_a, \phi \in g$ and $\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\phi} \in V$. In ref. [30], SUSY transformation closes without the extra gauge parameters $\tilde{\Lambda}, \tilde{a}$, so it is natural to define the fermion transformation to be homogeneous as the field strength,

$$\delta \chi_a = [\chi_a, \Lambda], \qquad \delta \tilde{\chi}_a = -\underline{\rho}(\Lambda) \tilde{\chi}_a \,.$$
(5.16)

The gauge transformations of $Y, \phi, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{h}, \tilde{\psi}$ should be similar to $\chi, \tilde{\chi}$.

The SUSY transformation laws for the general case of non-Abelian gerbes are a straightforward extension of the SUSY transformation laws (3.9)-(3.15) given the special case of multiple M5-branes first given in ref. [30]. They are

$$\delta A_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu} \chi_a, \qquad (5.17)$$

$$\delta \tilde{A}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu} \tilde{\chi}_a, \tag{5.18}$$

$$\delta \tilde{B}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \tilde{\chi}_a - \frac{i}{2M} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{\mu\nu} \left(\underline{\rho}(\chi_a)(\tilde{\phi}) + \underline{\rho}(\phi) \tilde{\chi}_a \right) + \frac{1}{M} \bar{\epsilon}^a \gamma_{[\nu} \underline{\rho}(\tilde{\chi}_a) \tilde{A}_{\mu]}, \quad (5.19)$$

$$\delta\chi_a = \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}\epsilon^a - \frac{i}{2}\not\!\!\!D\phi\epsilon^a - Y^{ab}\epsilon_b - \frac{1}{2}D_\phi\phi\epsilon^a, \qquad (5.20)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\chi}^a = \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu} \epsilon^a - \frac{i}{2} \not\!\!\!D \tilde{\phi} \epsilon^a - \tilde{Y}^{ab} \epsilon_b - \frac{1}{2} D_\phi \tilde{\phi} \epsilon^a, \qquad (5.21)$$

$$\delta \tilde{Y}_{ab} = -\frac{1}{2} \bar{\epsilon}^{(a} D \tilde{\chi}^{b)} + i \underline{\rho}(\tilde{\phi})(\bar{\epsilon}^{(a} \chi^{b)}) - \frac{i}{2} (D_{\phi} \bar{\epsilon}^{(a} \tilde{\chi}^{b)}), \qquad (5.22)$$

where $D_{\phi}\tilde{\Phi} = -iM\tilde{\Phi} + \underline{\rho}(\phi)\tilde{\Phi}$. Thus we see that the 5D supersymmetric gauge theory for multiple M5-branes allows us to choose any non-Abelian gerbe defined in [27].

6 Comments

6.1 On KK modes

Some [6, 7] proposed that the same 5-dimensional SYM theory for D4-branes can be interpreted as a theory for M5-branes even at finite radius. It was claimed that all momentum modes on M5-branes are described by zero-mode configurations with non-zero 4D instanton charges. This proposal attracted a lot of attention and was investigated by many (see for example [13, 18, 20, 28, 31, 33]). On the other hand, we believe that, although the 4D instantons carry P_5 -charge, there are other independent KK-mode degrees of freedom. The KK modes should be kept explicitly in the M5-brane theory. Our arguments are as follows.

Roughly speaking, for a matter field Φ , the momentum density p_5 is of the form

$$\Pi \partial_5 \Phi, \tag{6.1}$$

where Π is the conjugate momentum of Φ . In the free field theory of a single M5-brane, the momentum density p_5 due to B_{ij} is proportional to

$$H_{0ij}H^{ij5} = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ijkl}H^{kl5}H^{ij5}.$$
 (6.2)

While the zero mode contribution

$$\frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ijkl}H^{kl5}_{(0)}H^{ij5}_{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ijkl}F^{ij}F^{kl}$$
(6.3)

of the 2-form potential B_{ij} is indeed the instanton density, the question is whether the KK mode contribution in (6.1) and (6.2) should all be discarded in the multiple M5 theory. If we accept the single M5-brane theory as a correct low energy effective theory (which can be verified by studying solitonic solutions corresponding to M5-branes in the 11 dimensional supergravity), both instantons on D4-branes and KK-modes of matter fields contribute to the momentum p_5 through (6.1) and (6.2), at least in the limit when all M5-branes are far apart and decoupled.

Some may argue that KK modes in M theory are identified with D0-branes in string theory, and D0-branes are identified with instantons on D4-branes, so KK modes are equivalent to instantons. However, the identification of D0-branes with instantons is justified only in the low energy, small R limit, because the SYM theory is only a low energy effective theory in the limit of small R. More precisely, D4-brane is the KK reduction of M5-brane compactified on a small circle. As KK reduction removes KK modes, zero-modes carrying P_5 charge (such as instantons) survive KK reduction and persist in the D4-brane theory. The fact that D0-branes on D4-branes can be identified with instantons does not imply that all D0-branes are described as instantons before taking the low energy, small R limit.

To claim that the instanton configurations of gauge fields accounts for all possible sources of P_5 requires a new type of gauge symmetry in which the KK-mode degrees of freedom is gauge-equivalent to the instanton configurations. There has never been such an example in field theory.

Finally, without the KK modes, it would be hard to imagine how one can describe the BPS states we considered in section 4.1.2, that is, parallel M2-branes lying in the x^4 direction (or other large spatial directions) when they are not uniformly smeared over in the x^5 -direction.

6.2 On zero-modes

A central idea in our formulation is to identify the vector field A_{μ} needed in a non-Abelian gauge theory with certain components of the tensor field B_{MN} by choosing a special direction (the compactified direction x^5), to avoid excessive physical degrees of freedom. After the proposal of ref. [12], a similar strategy was taken in ref. [22], followed by a series of publications [29, 35, 37, 39]. We explain here the differences between their model and ours, and hopefully through this discussion the reader will also understand our model better, in particular about the zero mode sector.

The main difference of ref. [22] from our proposal lies in the treatment of the zero modes of B_{MN} , which leads to a difference in the equation of motion for A_{μ} . In our approach, the equation of motion for A_{μ} reduces to the standard 5D YM equations when we set all KK modes to zeros. This is not the case for the theory proposed in ref. [22].

In the discussion below, we label a quantity defined in ref. [22] by the symbol "[CK]". The work of ref. [22] defined the 1-form potential $A_{\mu}^{[CK]}$ via the equation (eq. (3.19) in

ref. [22]):

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{[\rm CK]} = \int dx^5 \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu5}^{[\rm CK]}, \qquad (6.4)$$

where $\tilde{H}^{[CK]}_{\mu\nu5}$ is defined as (denoted as $\tilde{H}_{\mu\nu}$ in eq. (3.2) of ref. [22])

$$\tilde{H}^{[CK]}_{\mu\nu5} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} \Big[D^{\kappa}, B^{\sigma\rho}_{[CK]} \Big].$$
(6.5)

In ref. [22], eq. (6.4) restricts the zero-mode $B_{\mu\nu}^{(0)}{}^{[\rm CK]}$. In contrast, the zero-modes in our model are defined only in terms of $B_{\mu5}^{(0)}$, without explicitly referring to $B_{\mu\nu}^{(0)}$.

The problem with eq. (6.4), or the reason why we have avoided explicit reference to $B^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}$ in our model, is its deviation from the Yang-Mills equation when KK modes are removed on dimensional reduction. Taking the covariant derivatives on both sides of (6.4), we get

$$[D^{\nu}, F^{[\mathrm{CK}]}_{\mu\nu}] = \frac{1}{4} \int dx^5 \epsilon_{\mu\nu\kappa\sigma\rho} \Big[F^{\nu\kappa}_{[\mathrm{CK}]}, B^{\sigma\rho}_{[\mathrm{CK}]} \Big].$$
(6.6)

After removing all KK modes, the Yang-Mills equation is still modified by a term of the form $\frac{\pi R}{2}[F_{[CK]}, B_{[CK]}^{(0)}]$ on the right hand side. (Note that $B_{[CK]}^{(0)}$ is constrained by (6.4) so one cannot set it to zero at will.) They need to prove that somehow the correction term is negligible in the low energy limit in order for their model to be consistent with D4-brane physics.

Another difference is that, in our model, we have a free 1-form parameter Λ for the non-Abelian gauge transformations, while it is strongly constrained to a much smaller gauge symmetry in ref. [22]. In fact, if one does not demand the explicit presence of such a gauge symmetry and an invariant action at the same time, the no-go theorem [1–3] would not be applicable, and the introduction of nonlocality may not be fully justified.

Incidentally, despite their claim, the 6D Lorentz symmetry in the model of ref. [22] is not a genuine Lorentz symmetry in the usual sense, as the definition of the angular momentum involves an integral over the whole space-time. Furthermore, their proposed Lorentz transformation can be defined even after adding more symmetry-breaking terms in the Lagrangian.

An interesting question is whether it is possible to write down an uncompactified theory for multiple M5-branes. There are strong constraints on the S-matrix [19] for self-interactions of the self-dual tensor multiplet from Lorentz symmetry and supersymmetry in 6D. On the other hand, various physical aspects of the uncompactified theory can be extracted in the large R limit of the compactified theory, as we did in section 4.1.3. An uncompactified theory is not in crucial need unless it has some advantages such as manifest covariance in Lorentz symmetry, supersymmetry and gauge symmetry.

6.3 Conclusion

In addition to the works mentioned above, there are many other attempts to formulate an effective theory for multiple M5-branes, or just to explore potentially interesting higherform gauge theories in 6D. Some approached the problem through the mathematical notion of 3-algebra [5, 9, 11, 16, 32], higher gauge theory or twistor space [4, 24, 36, 38, 41]. Some used holographical principle as a tool [21, 34, 42, 43]. The interest in multiple M5-brane theory has also inspired new theoretical frameworks for higher gauge theories [14, 78–80], which are interesting by themselves.

The model studied in this paper based on [12, 26, 27, 30] satisfies the following criteria for an effective theory of multiple M5-branes: (i) It agrees with 5D SYM in the absence of KK modes. (ii) It agrees with 6D single M5-brane when the gauge group is Abelian. (iii) It has the full gauge symmetry for a 2-form potential. (iv) It has the correct field content. It is the only model satisfying all of those requirements. However, only part of the supersymmetry, and part of the rotation symmetry in the transverse directions of the M5-brane are manifest. The full 6D Lorentz symmetry in the UV limit is also not yet proven.

More tests on the model should be carried out, especially on its hidden Lorentz symmetry and supersymmetry. It will also be interesting to study the large R limit in more detail, including scattering processes, and to compare the results with the no-go conclusion based on supersymmetry of ref. [19].

We believe that a good comprehension of the multiple M5-brane system will be considered a significant breakthrough not only in string theory, but also in the context of general field theories, as it will open a door to a new class of symmetries and related new physics that we know very little of.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Heng-Yu Chen, Chong-Sun Chu, Kazuo Hosomichi, Yu-Tin Huang, Takeo Inami for their interest and discussions. PMH is supported in part by the National Science Council, Taiwan, R.O.C. and by the National Taiwan University NSC-CDP-102R3203. YM is partially supported by Grant-in-Aid (KAKENHI #25400246) from MEXT Japan.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- X. Bekaert, M. Henneaux and A. Sevrin, Deformations of chiral two forms in six-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 468 (1999) 228 [hep-th/9909094] [INSPIRE].
- [2] X. Bekaert, M. Henneaux and A. Sevrin, Symmetry deforming interactions of chiral p forms, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 88 (2000) 27 [hep-th/9912077] [INSPIRE].
- [3] X. Bekaert, M. Henneaux and A. Sevrin, Chiral forms and their deformations, Commun. Math. Phys. 224 (2001) 683 [hep-th/0004049] [INSPIRE].
- [4] P. Aschieri and B. Jurčo, Gerbes, M5-brane anomalies and E₈ gauge theory, JHEP 10 (2004) 068 [hep-th/0409200] [INSPIRE].

- [5] N. Lambert and C. Papageorgakis, Nonabelian (2,0) tensor multiplets and 3-algebras, JHEP 08 (2010) 083 [arXiv:1007.2982] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M.R. Douglas, On D = 5 super Yang-Mills theory and (2,0) theory, JHEP **02** (2011) 011 [arXiv:1012.2880] [INSPIRE].
- [7] N. Lambert, C. Papageorgakis and M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, *M5-branes*, *D4-branes and quantum 5D super-Yang-Mills*, *JHEP* **01** (2011) 083 [arXiv:1012.2882] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Terashima and F. Yagi, On effective action of multiple M5-branes and ABJM action, JHEP 03 (2011) 036 [arXiv:1012.3961] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Kawamoto, T. Takimi and D. Tomino, Branes from a non-abelian (2,0) tensor multiplet with 3-algebra, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 325402 [arXiv:1103.1223] [INSPIRE].
- [10] Y. Honma, M. Ogawa and S. Shiba, Dp-branes, NS5-branes and U-duality from nonabelian (2,0) theory with Lie 3-algebra, JHEP 04 (2011) 117 [arXiv:1103.1327] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Papageorgakis and C. Sämann, The 3-Lie algebra (2,0) tensor multiplet and equations of motion on loop space, JHEP 05 (2011) 099 [arXiv:1103.6192] [INSPIRE].
- [12] P.-M. Ho, K.-W. Huang and Y. Matsuo, A non-abelian self-dual gauge theory in 5+1 dimensions, JHEP 07 (2011) 021 [arXiv:1104.4040] [INSPIRE].
- [13] H. Singh, Super-Yang-Mills and M5-branes, JHEP 08 (2011) 136 [arXiv:1107.3408]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin and R. Wimmer, (1,0) superconformal models in six dimensions, JHEP 12 (2011) 062 [arXiv:1108.4060] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C.-S. Chu, A theory of non-abelian tensor gauge field with non-abelian gauge symmetry $G \times G$, Nucl. Phys. B 866 (2013) 43 [arXiv:1108.5131] [INSPIRE].
- [16] N. Lambert and P. Richmond, (2,0) supersymmetry and the light-cone description of M5-branes, JHEP 02 (2012) 013 [arXiv:1109.6454] [INSPIRE].
- [17] Y. Tachikawa, On S-duality of 5D super Yang-Mills on S¹, JHEP 11 (2011) 123
 [arXiv:1110.0531] [INSPIRE].
- [18] H.-C. Kim, S. Kim, E. Koh, K. Lee and S. Lee, On instantons as Kaluza-Klein modes of M5-branes, JHEP 12 (2011) 031 [arXiv:1110.2175] [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Czech, Y.-t. Huang and M. Rozali, Chiral three-point interactions in 5 and 6 dimensions, JHEP 10 (2012) 143 [arXiv:1110.2791] [INSPIRE].
- [20] H. Linander and F. Ohlsson, (2,0) theory on circle fibrations, JHEP 01 (2012) 159
 [arXiv:1111.6045] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Fiorenza, H. Sati and U. Schreiber, Multiple M5-branes, string 2-connections and 7D nonabelian Chern-Simons theory, arXiv:1201.5277 [INSPIRE].
- [22] C.-S. Chu and S.-L. Ko, Non-abelian action for multiple five-branes with self-dual tensors, JHEP 05 (2012) 028 [arXiv:1203.4224] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, M-brane models from non-abelian gerbes, JHEP 07 (2012) 010 [arXiv:1203.5757] [INSPIRE].
- [24] C. Sämann and M. Wolf, Non-abelian tensor multiplet equations from twistor space, Commun. Math. Phys. 328 (2014) 527 [arXiv:1205.3108] [INSPIRE].

- [25] F. Bonetti, T.W. Grimm and S. Hohenegger, A Kaluza-Klein inspired action for chiral p-forms and their anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 720 (2013) 424 [arXiv:1206.1600] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K.-W. Huang, Non-abelian chiral 2-form and M5-branes, arXiv:1206.3983 [INSPIRE].
- [27] P.-M. Ho and Y. Matsuo, Note on non-Abelian two-form gauge fields, JHEP 09 (2012) 075 [arXiv:1206.5643] [INSPIRE].
- [28] H.-C. Kim and S. Kim, M5-branes from gauge theories on the 5-sphere, JHEP 05 (2013) 144 [arXiv:1206.6339] [INSPIRE].
- [29] C.-S. Chu, S.-L. Ko and P. Vanichchapongjaroen, Non-abelian self-dual string solutions, JHEP 09 (2012) 018 [arXiv:1207.1095] [INSPIRE].
- [30] F. Bonetti, T.W. Grimm and S. Hohenegger, Non-abelian tensor towers and (2,0) superconformal theories, JHEP 05 (2013) 129 [arXiv:1209.3017] [INSPIRE].
- [31] H.-C. Kim and K. Lee, Supersymmetric M5 brane theories on $R \times CP^2$, JHEP 07 (2013) 072 [arXiv:1210.0853] [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Lambert, C. Papageorgakis and M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, Deconstructing (2,0) proposals, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 026007 [arXiv:1212.3337] [INSPIRE].
- [33] Z. Bern et al., D = 5 maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory diverges at six loops, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 025018 [arXiv:1210.7709] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.A. Minahan, A. Nedelin and M. Zabzine, 5D super Yang-Mills theory and the correspondence to AdS₇/CFT₆, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 355401 [arXiv:1304.1016] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C.-S. Chu and P. Vanichchapongjaroen, Non-abelian self-dual string and M2-M5 branes intersection in supergravity, JHEP 06 (2013) 028 [arXiv:1304.4322] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C. Sämann and M. Wolf, Six-dimensional superconformal field theories from principal 3-bundles over twistor space, Lett. Math. Phys. 104 (2014) 1147 [arXiv:1305.4870]
 [INSPIRE].
- [37] C.-S. Chu and H. Isono, Instanton wave and M-wave in multiple M5-branes system, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2586 [arXiv:1305.6808] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, Six-dimensional (1,0) superconformal models and higher gauge theory, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 113509 [arXiv:1308.2622] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C.-S. Chu, Non-abelian self-dual strings in six dimensions from four dimensional 1/2-BPS monopoles, Nucl. Phys. B 882 (2014) 289 [arXiv:1310.7710] [INSPIRE].
- [40] F.-M. Chen, A nonabelian (1,0) tensor multiplet theory in 6D, JHEP 02 (2014) 034
 [arXiv:1312.4330] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, Self-dual string and higher instanton solutions, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 065036 [arXiv:1312.5644] [INSPIRE].
- [42] H. Mori and S. Yamaguchi, M5-branes and Wilson surfaces in AdS₇/CFT₆ correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 026005 [arXiv:1404.0930] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Palmer, Higher gauge theory and M-theory, arXiv:1407.0298 [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Perry and J.H. Schwarz, Interacting chiral gauge fields in six-dimensions and Born-Infeld theory, Nucl. Phys. B 489 (1997) 47 [hep-th/9611065] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Aganagic, J. Park, C. Popescu and J.H. Schwarz, World volume action of the M-theory five-brane, Nucl. Phys. B 496 (1997) 191 [hep-th/9701166] [INSPIRE].

- [46] P. Pasti, D.P. Sorokin and M. Tonin, On Lorentz invariant actions for chiral p forms, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6292 [hep-th/9611100] [INSPIRE].
- [47] P. Pasti, D.P. Sorokin and M. Tonin, Covariant action for a D = 11 five-brane with the chiral field, Phys. Lett. B 398 (1997) 41 [hep-th/9701037] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J.L. Brylinski, Loop spaces, characteristic classes and geometric quantization, Birkhäuser, Boston U.S.A. (1993).
- [49] L. Breen and W. Messing, Differential geometry of GERBES, Adv. Math. 198 (2005) 732 [math/0106083] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J.C. Baez and J. Huerta, An invitation to higher gauge theory, Gen. Rel. Grav. 43 (2011) 2335 [arXiv:1003.4485] [INSPIRE].
- [51] C. Teitelboim, Gauge invariance for extended objects, Phys. Lett. B 167 (1986) 63 [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Henneaux and B. Knaepen, All consistent interactions for exterior form gauge fields, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 6076 [hep-th/9706119] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C.-H. Chen, P.-M. Ho and T. Takimi, A no-go theorem for M5-brane theory, JHEP 03 (2010) 104 [arXiv:1001.3244] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Gukov and A. Kapustin, Topological quantum field theory, nonlocal operators and gapped phases of gauge theories, arXiv:1307.4793 [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Kapustin and R. Thorngren, *Higher symmetry and gapped phases of gauge theories*, arXiv:1309.4721 [INSPIRE].
- [56] P.-M. Ho and Y. Matsuo, M5 from M2, JHEP 06 (2008) 105 [arXiv:0804.3629] [INSPIRE].
- [57] P.-M. Ho, Y. Imamura, Y. Matsuo and S. Shiba, M5-brane in three-form flux and multiple M2-branes, JHEP 08 (2008) 014 [arXiv:0805.2898] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P.-M. Ho, A concise review on M5-brane in large C-field background, Chin. J. Phys. 48 (2010) 1 [arXiv:0912.0445] [INSPIRE].
- [59] E. Bergshoeff et al., Weyl multiplets of N = 2 conformal supergravity in five-dimensions, JHEP 06 (2001) 051 [hep-th/0104113] [INSPIRE].
- [60] E. Bergshoeff et al., Superconformal N = 2, D = 5 matter with and without actions, JHEP 10 (2002) 045 [hep-th/0205230] [INSPIRE].
- [61] E. Cremmer, Supergravities in 5 dimensions, in Supergravities in diverse dimensions, A. Salam and E. Sezgin eds., World Scientific, Singapore (1989) [LPTENS 80-17].
- [62] M. Günaydin, G. Sierra and P.K. Townsend, The geometry of N = 2 Maxwell-Einstein supergravity and Jordan algebras, Nucl. Phys. **B 242** (1984) 244 [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Günaydin, G. Sierra and P.K. Townsend, Gauging the D = 5 Maxwell-Einstein supergravity theories: more on Jordan algebras, Nucl. Phys. B 253 (1985) 573 [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Günaydin and M. Zagermann, The gauging of five-dimensional, N = 2 Maxwell-Einstein supergravity theories coupled to tensor multiplets, Nucl. Phys. B 572 (2000) 131
 [hep-th/9912027] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Ceresole and G. Dall'Agata, General matter coupled N = 2, D = 5 gauged supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 585 (2000) 143 [hep-th/0004111] [INSPIRE].
- [66] E. Bergshoeff et al., N = 2 supergravity in five-dimensions revisited, Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) 3015 [Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 7149] [hep-th/0403045] [INSPIRE].

- [67] W. Siegel, Manifest Lorentz invariance sometimes requires nonlinearity, Nucl. Phys. B 238 (1984) 307 [INSPIRE].
- [68] R. Floreanini and R. Jackiw, Selfdual fields as charge density solitons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 59 (1987) 1873 [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim, Dynamics of chiral (selfdual) P forms, Phys. Lett. B 206 (1988) 650 [INSPIRE].
- [70] W.-M. Chen and P.-M. Ho, Lagrangian formulations of self-dual gauge theories in diverse dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 837 (2010) 1 [arXiv:1001.3608] [INSPIRE].
- [71] P. Pasti, I. Samsonov, D. Sorokin and M. Tonin, BLG-motivated Lagrangian formulation for the chiral two-form gauge field in D = 6 and M5-branes, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 086008
 [arXiv:0907.4596] [INSPIRE].
- [72] W.-H. Huang, Lagrangian of self-dual gauge fields in various formulations, Nucl. Phys. B 861 (2012) 403 [arXiv:1111.5118] [INSPIRE].
- [73] W.-H. Huang, General lagrangian of non-covariant self-dual gauge field, JHEP 11 (2012) 051 [arXiv:1210.1024] [INSPIRE].
- [74] P.-M. Ho, C.-T. Ma and C.-H. Yeh, BPS states on M5-brane in large C-field background, JHEP 08 (2012) 076 [arXiv:1206.1467] [INSPIRE].
- [75] N.D. Lambert and D. Tong, Dyonic instantons in five-dimensional gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 462 (1999) 89 [hep-th/9907014] [INSPIRE].
- [76] D. Bak and A. Gustavsson, M5/D4 brane partition function on a circle bundle, JHEP 12 (2012) 099 [arXiv:1209.4391] [INSPIRE].
- [77] H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin, R. Wimmer and L. Wulff, New superconformal models in six dimensions: gauge group and representation structure, PoS(CORFU2011)071
 [arXiv:1204.0542] [INSPIRE].
- [78] H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin and R. Wimmer, Six-dimensional superconformal couplings of non-abelian tensor and hypermultiplets, JHEP 03 (2013) 068 [arXiv:1212.5199] [INSPIRE].
- [79] I. Bandos, H. Samtleben and D. Sorokin, Duality-symmetric actions for non-Abelian tensor fields, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 025024 [arXiv:1305.1304] [INSPIRE].
- [80] I.A. Bandos, Non-Abelian tensor hierarchy in (1,0) D = 6 superspace, JHEP 11 (2013) 203 [arXiv:1308.2397] [INSPIRE].
- [81] E. Witten, Five-brane effective action in M-theory, J. Geom. Phys. 22 (1997) 103 [hep-th/9610234] [INSPIRE].
- [82] L. Dolan and C.R. Nappi, A modular invariant partition function for the five-brane, Nucl. Phys. B 530 (1998) 683 [hep-th/9806016] [INSPIRE].